IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

MISSISSIPPI VALLEY SILICA COMPANY, INC.

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2010-CA-00924

ROBERT EASTMAN, SR., Deceased

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE WARREN CIRCUIT COURT

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

OF COUNSEL:

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. When a party dies during pending litigation, a proper party must be substituted within 90 days after a suggestion of death is filed, or else the case must be dismissed. Robert Eastman died before judgment was entered, and a suggestion of death was filed; but rather than move to substitute a proper party, the wouldbe successors asked instead to substitute a nonexistent estate. Must this case be dismissed, and was the judgment void?
- II. In a product-liability case, the supplier of the product has no duty to warn if it has reason to believe that the employer purchasing the product for its employees' use is a sophisticated user aware of the dangers. Mississippi Valley Silica Company, Inc. provided sand to Eastman's employer, a large shipbuilding company which testimony showed knew or should have known of the dangers of silica dust in sandblasting. Did the trial court err in refusing even to instruct the jury on the sophisticated-user defense?
- III. Section 85-5-7 of the Mississippi Code requires the jury to allocate fault to "each party" alleged by either side to be at fault. Here, the trial court refused a jury verdict form that listed each party whom the defense argued to be at fault, and instead gave the jury the choice of allocating fault to Mississippi Valley Silica Company, Eastman, or "Others." Was this failure to properly instruct the jury reversible error?

-1-

- IV. Besides the failure of Eastman's employer to warn him sufficiently or provide safe equipment, Eastman was also harmed by sand from other suppliers and by manufacturers of inadequate safety equipment. Given that he used Valley's sand for only 54% of his career, and at the same time suffered from the negligence of his employer and of those safety-equipment manufacturers, is a 60% allocation of fault to Mississippi Valley Silica Company against the overwhelming weight of the evidence?
- V. Because Eastman died before judgment was entered, his suit became a survival action, where the available damages are limited to those incurred during his lifetime. Yet the jury was asked to award actual damages only for his future medical care; no proof was offered of past medical expenses. Was it error for the trial court to enter judgment on this \$1.6 million award for damages that the deceased Eastman never could possibly incur?
- VI. The trial court allocated to Mississippi Valley Silica Company 60% of the jury's award of \$3 million in noneconomic damages, then reduced that to \$1 million, the maximum under the statutory damage cap. Was it erroneous as a matter of law for the trial court to use this method rather than to impose the cap on the award first and then allocate 60% of the \$1 million?
- VII. Do the foregoing issues amount to cumulative error?
- VIII. Alternatively, do the foregoing issues demonstrate that a remittitur is proper?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Course of Proceedings Below

In May 2007, Plaintiff Robert Eastman, Sr. ("Eastman") filed suit against 32 named defendants, including Mississippi Valley Silica Company, Inc. ("Valley"). R.E. 2 (Complaint) at R.23.¹ He alleged damages arising from "exposure to respirable crystalline silica while working as a sandblaster at Letourneau in Vicksburg, Mississippi from 1963 to 1991." R.E. 2 at R.24.

The matter was tried before a jury on November 2-6 and 9, 2009 in Warren Circuit Court (Patrick, J.), with only two of the original 32 defendants going to trial, Valley and American Optical Corporation. R.E. 3 at T.4. After all witnesses for both sides had testified, American Optical settled the claim against it, leaving only Valley. R.E. 3 at T.1002-04. On November 9, the case went to the jury, which on that same day returned a \$4.6 million verdict for Eastman, allocating 60% fault to Valley, 0% to Eastman, and 40% to unnamed "Others." R.E. 4 at R.5005A-5005C. Punitive damages were then considered by the jury, which awarded an additional \$3 million. R.E. 3 at T.1110-11. Because Valley has zero net worth, the punitive award was reduced to zero, and final judgment was entered for Eastman on April 14, 2010 for \$1.96 million. R.E. 7 at R.5289-90.

¹Court papers are cited as R.___; the trial transcript as T.___. References to the Record Excerpts for Appellant are by tab number (R.E.__).

Before entry of judgment, however, Eastman had died on February 8, 2010, aged 67. R.E. 6 at R.5343. A suggestion of death was filed and served by Valley on February 16. R.E. 5 at R.5273. In the name of the deceased plaintiff, a motion to substitute was served on February 22, 2010, alleging that counsel was "in the process of opening an estate for Robert Eastman." R.E. 6 at R.5343. No executor or administrator was named in that pleading, and none was ever substituted—not by the time of judgment, not by 90 days after the suggestion of death was filed, and not before this appeal was filed.² Judgment was thus entered for a deceased party.

Valley timely filed a Rule 59 motion seeking judgment notwithstanding the verdict, a new trial, or remittitur (and drawing the trial court's attention to the issue of Eastman's demise). These motions were denied on May 6, 2010. R.E. 8 at R.5398. A notice of appeal was timely filed on June 4, 2010. R.5477.

On August 23, 2010, Eastman's wrongful-death beneficiaries filed a wrongfuldeath suit against Valley and six other defendants. *Eastman v. S. Silica of La.*, No. 10,0129-CI (Warren Circuit Ct.) (Chaney, J.). That suit is pending as of the filing of this brief.

II. Relevant Facts

According to the complaint filed by Eastman,

²By virtue of checking the online docket for this Court, Valley learned that a motion to substitute party was filed in this Court on June 30, 2011, of which more below.

Plaintiff worked in various industries and trades that are known by the Defendants to result in increased exposures to silica. These trades may include, but are not limited to, abrasive blasting, construction, ship yards, and other heavy industries throughout the United States. Plaintiff's jobs and tasks required Plaintiff to engage in activities known by the Defendants to produce high levels of respirable silica or work in environments that contained high levels of respirable silica. These tasks may have included, but are not limited to, abrasive blasting, and raw materials handling. Plaintiff's jobs caused him to be exposed to silica from silica containing products, products that produce silica or products that cause the release of silica into the environment.

R.E. 2 at R.37 (emphasis added). Missing from the list of Defendants, and thus from those supposed to partake of this general knowledge about "increased exposure to silica," etc., was Eastman's employer for 28 years, Marathon LeTourneau ("LeTourneau"), the business engaged in said "abrasive blasting and construction" at its Warren County facility.

Valley sold "Valco"-brand sand to LeTourneau and other companies for use in sandblasting. R.E. 3 at T.486, 488. Valley's former president, Frank Bogran, testified that he became aware around 1972 that silicosis could result from the tiny silica particles created in the sandblasting process. R.E. 3 at T.491-92. Valley placed a warning on its bags of sand and dray-tickets around this time, advising buyers that failure to use proper equipment with the sand could endanger one's health. R.E. 3 at T.496. In Bogran's opinion, the sand itself was dangerous only if blasted into microparticles without proper safety equipment. R.E. 3 at T.503-04. Eastman's expert

-5-

witness Dr. Edward Karnes agreed: "I mean, you can douse yourself in this stuff and it's not going to create silicosis. It's when you break it up, and abrasive blasting is the most obvious way of breaking it up," that the potentially harmful silica dust is created. R.E. 3 at T.411-12 (punctuation amended). Bogran believed that entities like LeTourneau should have been aware of the dangers they created by blasting the sand and should have taken safety measures accordingly. R.E. 3 at T.504-05.

Naturally, Eastman produced fact and expert witnesses who disagreed with Bogran and Valley, and who claimed that Valley should have provided highly detailed warnings about all the specific hazards associated with vaporizing sand particles and then breathing the vapor, listed the specific safety equipment to be used, *etc.* T.194-765 *passim.* It was never explained how the perils of sandblasting were supposed to have been apparent and obvious to Valley and to other companies selling sand or filters, but not to LeTourneau, the company doing the sandblasting.

Born in 1942, Eastman was a few weeks shy of his 21st birthday when he went to work for LeTourneau in 1963. R.E. 3 at T.700, 702. His work included sandblasting or being active in areas where sandblasting occurred. R.E. 3 at T.702-05. On at least one occasion, LeTourneau had him sandblasting indoors for about six weeks with very poor ventilation. R.E. 3 at T.730-33. Eastman's complaints to LeTourneau about the lack of adequate safety equipment were met with threats that if he "didn't want to use that hood they would get somebody else." R.E. 3 at T.741. He claimed he "mostly"

-6-

used Valco sand from 1963 to 1978. R.E. 3 at T.711. He almost never was provided an air-feed hood at work (i.e., a hood with a supply of fresh air, rather than one that simply attempts to filter the ambient air). R.E. 3 at T.713-14, 743-46.³

At trial in November 2009, Eastman testified to shortness of breath, though he did not specify when this began. R.E. 3 at T.719-20. He admitted seeing Valley's warnings that its sand could be hazardous to his health, but since the bags didn't say that the sand might kill him, he didn't change jobs or seek better protection. R.E. 3 at T.725-26. Eastman admitted to smoking cigarettes and to having filed asbestos lawsuits as well, alleging damage to his lungs from asbestos. R.E. 3 at T.756. He testified he was diagnosed with asbestosis. R.E. 3 at T.762. He agreed that he used safety equipment manufactured by Defendants Pulmosan, Pangborn, Clemco, Empire, and Mine Safety Appliances as well as by American Optical. R.E. 3 at T.758-59. He also used sand from Clark, Quick Creek, Custom Aggregates, and Southern Silica. R.E. 3 at T.764.

At trial, it was Valley's theory—on opening, motion for directed verdict, and closing—that LeTourneau had to have known that its negligence endangered workers like Eastman, and that as the employer who ordered them to sandblast using silica without adequate safety measures, LeTourneau bore most or all of the responsibility

³Eastman's deposition testimony was that LeTourneau told him an air-feed hood for him would cost too much money, though at trial, Eastman professed not to recall that explanation. R.E. 3 at T.746-47.

for any resulting damages. R.E. 3 at T.187, 188-89, 1006-09, 1065-69. Despite this, the trial court denied Valley the opportunity to instruct the jury on its "sophisticated user" defense and denied Valley a jury form that would have allowed the jury to allocate fault specifically to LeTourneau, as will be seen in the Argument below.

On closing, Eastman's counsel asked the jury to find Valley to be 60% at fault. R.E. 3 at T.1059. It did so. The jury awarded \$1.6 million in actual damages and \$3 million in noneconomic damages. The trial court entered judgment against Valley for 60% of the \$1.6 million in actual damages ($60\% \times 1.6 million = \$960,000). On the noneconomic damages, the court did not apply the statutory cap (Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-60(2)(b)) until *after* allocating 60% of the \$3 million award to Valley. As a result, Valley was held liable for the maximum \$1 million: $60\% \times 3 million = \$1.8 million, which was then capped at \$1 million. The total judgment was thus for \$1.96 million (\$960,000 actual + \$1 million noneconomic = \$1.96 million), from which Valley now appeals.

Further facts pertinent to specific issues will be set forth in the Argument.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The most prominent error below is the one reflected on the cover of this brief: there is no Appellee in this case. Eastman died before entry of judgment, and no timely substitution of plaintiff was made prior to judgment. M.R.C.P. 25(a)(1) requires substitution of a proper party within 90 days of a suggestion of death, on pain of dismissal, but no proper party was substituted; counsel offered only a nonexistent, unopened "estate." Dismissal was thus required by Rule 25, and the judgment entered for a deceased person was void.

Alternatively, the trial court committed reversible error on several issues requiring a new trial, including denial of a jury instruction that would have presented Valley's "sophisticated-user" theory of the case. Evidence at trial showed that Eastman's employer, LeTourneau, knew or should have known of the hazards in pulverizing sand into silica dust, but Valley was not permitted to present this theory to the jury—a theory that could have resulted in a defense verdict.

Valley's theory of the case was also frustrated by the trial court's refusal to allow a verdict form that would have let the jury allocate fault to "each party" alleged to be at fault, as § 85-5-7 requires. Instead, the jury could allocate fault only to Valley, Eastman, or unspecified "Others," in violation of the letter and spirit of § 85-5-7 as interpreted by this Court in *Estate of Hunter*.

-9-

Presented with that form, the jury went on to allocate 60% of the fault to Valley, despite Eastman's having used Valley sand for only 54% of his sandblasting career, despite the evidence of other defective safety products contributing to his exposure, and despite LeTourneau's negligence. This excessive allocation is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence and calls for a new trial.

The judgment itself was legally erroneous as to Eastman's actual damages, because the only economic damages Eastman sought from the jury were for future medical expenses, most prominently a double-lung transplant, and Eastman's death before entry of judgment made those alleged future medical expenses irrelevant: the \$960,000 awarded as actual damages should have been zero.

Likewise, the trial court erred as a matter of law when it apportioned 60% of the noneconomic damages to Valley *before* applying the § 11-1-62(2)(b) cap, resulting in Valley's paying the full amount allowable by law despite having been held 60% at fault. Both that statute and § 85-5-7 require first applying the cap and then apportioning the legally allowable damages, because the cap is on the award to the plaintiff, not on the amounts payable by defendants.

The foregoing errors support reversal all the moreso when considered cumulatively. Valley's defense was so hamstrung that it did not receive a fair trial.

Alternatively, computing the damages correctly, the total judgment should have been for only \$600,000, and remittitur to this amount would be proper.

-10-

ARGUMENT

Questions of law are reviewed de novo by this Court on appeal. Madison HMA,

Inc. v. St. Dominic-Jackson Mem'l Hosp., 35 So. 3d 1209, 1215 (Miss. 2010).

A judgment as a matter of law (or judgment notwithstanding the verdict, JNOV) must be granted, and its denial is reversible error, where the evidence is legally insufficient to allow the verdict:

The standard of review in considering a trial court's denial of a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict is de novo. The trial court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party and **look only to the sufficiency, and not the weight**, of that evidence. * * * When determining whether the evidence was *sufficient*, the critical inquiry is whether the evidence is of such quality that reasonable and fairminded jurors in the exercise of fair and impartial judgment might reach different conclusions.

Poole ex rel. Poole v. Avara, 908 So. 2d 716, 726 (Miss. 2005) (citations omitted & boldfacing added). The evidence is "legally sufficient" only if there is substantial evidence to support the verdict. Johnson v. St. Dominic-Jackson Mem'l Hosp., 967 So. 2d 20, 22 (Miss. 2007). "Substantial evidence is much more than conjecture, speculation, or suspicion." Miss. State Bd. of Examiners for Social Workers & Marriage & Family Therapists v. Anderson, 757 So. 2d 1079, 1086 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000).

A new trial is proper where the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, or where other considerations dictate a new trial: A new trial may be granted in a number of circumstances, such as when the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, or when the jury has been confused by faulty jury instructions, or when the jury has departed from its oath and its verdict is a result of bias, passion, and prejudice.

Poole, 908 So. 2d at 726 (quoting *Shields v. Easterling*, 676 So. 2d 293, 298 (Miss. 1996)) (emphasis added). Insofar as the weight of the evidence is concerned, the trial court should order a new trial when "convinced that verdict was contrary to the substantial weight of the evidence so that justice requires that a new trial be granted." *Id.* (citation omitted).

I. Failure to Substitute a Proper Party for the Deceased Plaintiff Required Dismissal.

This Court need not reach the issue of a new trial, because this case should have been dismissed for failure to substitute a proper party after Eastman's death.

A. No Proper Party Was Offered in Substitution.

Valley filed its suggestion of death on February 16, 2010, two days after Eastman's funeral. R.E. 5 at R.5273, 5275. In response, rather than a motion to substitute some party actually in existence, "Plaintiff" moved to substitute an estate that had not been created yet and thus did not even exist. R.E. 6 at R.5343.⁴ No motion was filed to substitute a real and existing party for Eastman, who has now been deceased

⁴Although sent to counsel, the February 23, 2010 motion to substitute does not seem to appear on the trial court docket. R.E. 1 at R.20-21. Arguably, it was thus never submitted to the trial court. See M.R.C.P. 7(b)(1).

for well over a year. Nor does the record show any notice of hearing was served as also required by Rule 25(a)(1).

Rule 25(a)(1) mandates dismissal where no motion for substitution of a proper party is made within 90 days of the suggestion of death of the sole plaintiff:

If a party dies and the claim is not thereby extinguished, the court shall, upon motion, order substitution of the proper parties. The motion for substitution may be made by any party or by the successors or representatives of the deceased party and, together with the notice of hearing, shall be served on the parties as provided in Rule 5 and upon persons not parties in the manner provided in Rule 4 for the service of summons. The action shall be dismissed without prejudice as to the deceased party if the motion for substitution is not made within ninety days after the death is suggested upon the record by service of a statement of the fact of the death as herein provided for the service of the motion.

(emphasis added). "Shall" of course "means 'shall,' not 'shall sometimes.' " Poindexter v. S. United Fire Ins. Co., 836 So. 2d 964, 971 (Miss. 2003) (construing M.R.C.P. 15(a)).

The 90 days set by Rule 25(a)(1) ran on May 17, 2010. In that time, Eastman served a supposed motion to substitute, but this motion failed to name a party that *actually existed*.⁵ This was no better than if Eastman had moved to substitute the Tooth Fairy. The rule allows only substitution of "the *proper* parties" (emphasis added). Not just any party may be substituted under Rule 25(a)(1) and Miss. Code Ann. § 91-7-237, but only the executor or administrator of the deceased plaintiff's estate. *See Roxas v*.

⁵The motion also sought additional time under Rule 6(b), but the record does not show that the trial court ever granted this relief. Parties who fail to obtain a ruling on a motion are deemed to have abandoned it. *Billiot v. State*, 454 So. 2d 445, 456 (Miss. 1984).

Marcos, 969 P.2d 1209, 1238-39 (Haw. 1998) (discussing majority rule); Madison v. Vintage Petroleum, Inc., 872 F. Supp. 340, 342-43 (S.D. Miss. 1994) (applying federal Rule 25). Lack of diligence in the appointment of an administrator is a basis for dismissal. Ashley v. Ill. Cent. Gulf R.R. Co., 98 F.R.D. 722, 724 (S.D. Miss. 1983) (applying federal Rule 25). Cf. Fletcher v. Limeco Corp., 996 So. 2d 773, 779 (Miss. 2008) (finding federal district courts' construal of parallel federal Rule 5 "highly persuasive").

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