2010-CA-00924 E

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons or entities have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate the possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. Rutha M. Eastman, Lavette Eastman, and all other heirs-at-law or wrongful-death beneficiaries of Robert Eastman, Sr., Deceased, *Appellees*.
- 2. Timothy W. Porter, Esq., Patrick C. Malouf, Esq., and John T. Givens, Porter & Malouf, P.A., *counsel for Appellees*.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Defendant failed to move for dismissal in the trial court for Plaintiff's alleged failure to comply with Miss. R. Civ. P. 25(a). Therefore, the Defendant can not raise this alleged error for the first time on appeal since it was not presented to the trial judge for his decision.

Regardless of this procedural hurdle, Plaintiff's counsel timely complied with Miss. R. Civ. 25(a) by filing a motion for substitution within 6 days of the Suggestion of Death upon the record. Substitution is not required in 90 days, only a motion for substitution. In addition, the Defendant failed to comply with Rule 25(a) because it failed to serve the Suggestion of Death on the Estate as provided in Miss. R. Civ. P. 4. Due to this failure, the 90 day requirement never began to run. In fact, it still has not began to run because the Defendant has still failed to serve the Estate with the Suggestion of Death.

Plaintiff's counsel moved for the Estate of Robert Eastman to be substituted as the real party in interest. Since the jury's verdict was for damages personal to Robert Eastman, the Estate would be the only proper party to receive those damages. The final judgment entered by the trial court is not a nullity because the case had been fully tried and finally decided on the merits by the trier of fact. The only thing that remained to be done was the entry of a final judgment. The entry of the final judgment based on the jury's findings caused no miscarriage of justice and was not a nullity.

The trial court properly refused the Defendant's sophisticated user jury instruction for four reasons. First, the jury instructions as a whole properly instructed the jury as to the applicable rules of law. Two, the proposed instruction was not an accurate statement of the law since it argued that the Defendant would have no duty to warn of dangers associated with its blasting sand. Third, the Defendant failed to offer any credible evidence that its reliance upon LeTourneau was reasonable.

Fourth, the Defendant has failed to demonstrate that the refusal of the instruction had any affect on the outcome of the case.

The verdict form given by the trial court complied with Miss. Code Ann. § 85-5-7 as it clearly allowed the jury to allocate fault to all potential tortfeasors whether present at trial or not. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by giving a verdict form that listed "other parties" instead of each individual potential tortfeasor. Even if this Court finds the verdict form as given was error, it was harmless error that does not require reversal.

As admitted by the Defendant, if the testimony is viewed in the light most favorable to the Plaintiff, Mr. Eastman was exposed to the Defendant's sand for 54% of his career. In addition, the exposure to Defendant's sand occurred in the first 15 years of his work. According to Dr. Rose, the early exposures are the most dangerous. The jury heard all the evidence and assigned 60% of the fault to the Defendant. Therefore, at most there was a six percent (6%) variation between Plaintiff's exposure to Defendant's product and the jury's allocation of fault. This is far from being against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

The jury's verdict was returned while Robert Eastman was alive. His subsequent death three months later did not change or alter the jury's findings based on the evidence presented at trial. The trial court had no discretion to disregard the jury's findings. At the time of the jury's verdict, this was Robert Eastman's personal injury action, so any future damages awarded survive his death. If this Court was to accept Defendant's arguments, jury verdicts for future damages could be attacked at any time if the Plaintiff died at any point after the verdict. This is simply not allowed under the laws of this State.

The trial court correctly applied the caps on noneconomic damages found in Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-60. The statute is silent on whether fault is apportioned prior to or after the application of the

caps. The only requirement is that no award of noneconomic damages should exceed \$1,000,000.00. The award entered by the trial court did not exceed \$1,000,000.00. Therefore, the trial court correctly applied the noneconomic cap found in 11-1-60.

There was no error during the trial, definitely not cumulative error. Therefore, this Court should affirm the jury's verdict which was based on the law and evidence presented at trial. Finally, the Defendant is not entitled to any remittitur because the jury's verdict was based on credible and substantial evidence and was not the result of any bias or prejudice.

ARGUMENT

I. The Plaintiff Complied with Miss. R. Civ. P. 25(a), and therefore, Dismissal was Not Proper.

Since the Plaintiff complied with Miss. R. Civ. P. 25(a), there was no basis for dismissal of the action in the trial court. Therefore, this Court should consider the rest of the issues on appeal.

A. The Defendant Failed to Move for Dismissal in the Trial Court, and therefore, the Issue is Not Properly Before This Court.

The Defendant argues that the trial court should have dismissed this action because of Plaintiff's alleged failure to comply with Miss. R. Civ. P. 25(a). The problem with this argument is that the Defendant never filed a Motion to Dismiss based on Plaintiff's failure to comply with Rule 25 with the trial court. "This Court has stated that a trial judge cannot be put in error on a matter not presented to him for his decision." *Bender v. North Meridian Mobile Home Park*, 636 So.2d 385, 389 (Miss. 1994); citing *Mills v. Nichols*, 467 So.2d 924, 931 (Miss. 1985). Further, if an issue is not presented to the trial court, it cannot be raised on appeal. *Bender*, 636 So.2d at 389; citing *Parker v. Miss. Game and Fish Comm'n*, 555 So.2d 725, 730 (Miss. 1989).

It is clear from the record the Defendant never filed a Motion to Dismiss based on Rule 25(a).

All the Defendant argued was that "Judgment should only be entered after an appropriate estate is

opened and substituted as the party as requested by plaintiff's counsel...." R. 5321. Based on clear precedent of this Court, the issue of whether the case should have been dismissed pursuant to Rule 25(a) is not properly before this Court as the issue was not raised in the trial court and there is no ruling from the trial court. Therefore, this Court should decline to consider this issue.

B. The Plaintiff's Motion for Substitution was Timely and Complied with Rule 25(a).

If this Court is inclined to address the issue, the Plaintiff would respectfully submit that he complied with Rule 25(a). The Defendant filed a Suggestion of Death on February 16, 2010. R. 5273. Plaintiff's counsel filed a Motion for Substitution on or about February 22, 2010 well within the 90 days required by Rule 25(a). R. 5343. Rule 25(a) states:

If a party dies and the claim is not thereby extinguished, the court shall, upon motion, order substitution of the proper parties. The motion for substitution may be made by any party or by the successors or representatives of the deceased party and, together with the notice of hearing, shall be served on the parties as provided in Rule 5 and upon persons not parties in the manner provided in Rule 4 for the service of summons. The action shall be dismissed without prejudice as to the deceased party if the motion for substitution is not made within ninety days after the death is suggested upon the records by service of a statement of the fact of the death as herein provided for the service of the motion.

(Emphasis added). As the rule clearly states, Plaintiff's counsel is only required to serve the Motion for Substitution within 90 days of the filing of the Suggestion of Death. A case relied upon by the Defendant supports this interpretation. "Rule 25 requires that **the motion for substitution be made not later than ninety (90) days** after the death is suggested upon the record. *Ashley v. Illinois Cent. Gulf R. Co.*, 98 F.R.D. 722, 724 (D.C. Miss. 1983). The Motion for Substitution was made within 6 days of the Suggestion of Death. Therefore, Rule 25(a) was complied with by the Plaintiff and dismissal would not be proper.

The Defendant cites and relies upon Anderson v. Yungkau without fully disclosing the

version of Fed. R. Civ. P. 25(a) the U.S. Supreme Court was interpreting. 329 U.S. 482 (1947). The Supreme Court in *Anderson* was applying the prior version of Rule 25(a) which stated: "If a party dies and the claim is not thereby extinguished, the court within 2 years after the death may order substitution of the proper parties. If substitution is not so made, the action shall be dismissed as to the deceased party." 329 U.S. at 484. The prior version of Rule 25(a) stated that "if substitution is not made within that time the action 'Shall be dismissed' as to the deceased." *Id.* at 485. There is clearly a distinction from the previous version of 25(a) and current version of 25(a). The prior version relied on in *Anderson* required substitution within 2 years. The current version of 25(a) only requires a Motion for Substitution to be filed within 90 days. There is simply no requirement the substitution must occur within 90 days.

Further, the Defendant itself failed to comply with Rule 25(a). "The suggestion of death must be in writing and must be served on parties in accordance with Rule 5 and upon persons not parties as provided in Rule 4 for the service of a summons." *Comments* to Rule 25. In *Hurst v. Southwest Miss. Legal Services*, the Defendants argued that dismissal was warranted because no motion for substitution was filed with 90 days after service of the suggestion of death. 610 So.2d 374, 386 (Miss. 1992) (overruled on other grounds). This Court held that "Southwest did not fulfil Rule 25's requirement concerning service on non-parties when it mailed the Suggestion of Death to the plaintiff's attorney." *Hurst*, 610 So.2d at 386. The Plaintiff's attorney in *Hurst* had not been appointed counsel for the estate. *Id.* "Since Southwest did not properly serve the Estate of Josie Conerly, the ninety-day limitations period never began to run." *Id.*

In the present case, the Defendant never served the Estate of Robert Eastman, his wife Rutha Eastman, or any other heir-at-law. R. 5273-74. It is clear that the Defendant only served Plaintiff's counsel and Judge Patrick. R. 5274. The Defendant failed to fulfil the service requirements of Rule

25, and therefore, the ninety-day period for substitution never began to run. Therefore, this issue is completely without merit, and the relief sought by the Defendant should be denied.

C. The Only Proper Party Was Offered in the Motion for Substitution.

As acknowledged by the Defendant, this is clearly a survival action. In a disrespectful manner the Defendant argues that Plaintiff's Motion for Substitution was akin to asking to substitute the Tooth Fairy. Regardless of the disrespectful tone of Defendant's arguments, the statement is not based in law or fact. The only proper party for a survival action is the decedent's Estate. Any recovery from a survival action becomes an asset of the estate. *In Re England*, 846 So.2d 1060, 1067 (¶21) (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). Any recovery for Robert Eastman's injuries caused by the Defendant belong to the estate under the survival statute. *Id.* at 1068 (¶26). At the time of the jury verdict, the Defendant's actions had not caused Robert Eastman's death, therefore only "the estate may recover for personal injuries caused by [Defendant's actions]." *Id.* at 1069 (¶29).

Further, this Court has made it clear that the estate is entitled to recover certain damages. The **estate** is entitled to recover medical expenses. *Long v. McKinney*, 897 So.2d 160, 169 (¶33) (Miss. 2005). Under certain circumstances, recoveries are to be had by the estate. *Long*, 897 So.2d at 175 (¶62). Therefore, based on clear precedent of this Court, the proper party to be substituted was the Estate of Robert Eastman.

The Defendant's arguments appear to focus on the fact that an estate had not been opened and no administrator or executor had been appointed. The Defendant makes such arguments that one cannot be "the administrator of a non-existent estate." The Defendant cites several cases for the proposition that a non-existent estate cannot be substituted as a party under Rule 25. Plaintiff's Counsel was not attempting to substitute an administrator of a non-existent estate or to substitute a non-existent estate. In contrast, the Motion for Substitution stated "Once the Estate has been opened,

Counsel moves that the Estate of Robert Eastman be substituted as the real party in interest in this matter." R. 5343. It goes without saying that if an estate is opened in Chancery Court that an administrator or executor will have been appointed to act on behalf of the estate. This Court maintains that "[a] court must look to the content of the pleading to determine the nature of the action. Substance is considered over form.... The label is not controlling." *Meadows v. Blake*, 36 So.3d 1225, 1231 (¶11) (Miss. 2010); quoting *Am. Bankers Ins. Co. of Fla. v. Booth*, 830 So.2d 1205, 1214 (Miss.2002); (quoting *Arnona v. Smith*, 749 So.2d 63, 66 (Miss.1999)). The Motion filed by the Plaintiff was sufficient to put the Defendant on notice of the proper party to be substituted.

D. The Judgment Entered by the Trial Court is not a Nullity.

This Court has repeated the federal rule, which states that "a judgment is void only if the court that rendered it lacked jurisdiction of the subject matter, or of the parties, or if it acted in a manner inconsistent with due process of law." *Bryant, Inc. v. Walters,* 493 So.2d 933, 938 (Miss. 1986). The trial court clearly had subject matter jurisdiction. The trial court clearly had jurisdiction over the parties due to having presided over the trial which resulted in the jury's verdict. The trial court did not act inconsistent with due process of law. The Defendant was given its due process right to a trial by jury. The jury rendered its verdict against the Defendant and for the Plaintiff. The Trial Court simply reduced the jury's verdict for Robert Eastman to its final form. Therefore, the judgment was not a legal nullity. The jury returned its verdict and findings while Robert Eastman was alive. The trial court's final judgment did nothing more than reduce the jury's findings for Robert Eastman to final form.

This Court has addressed an analogous situation in a divorce action before. Applying § 11-7-25 (since repealed), this Court determined that "in a case such as this, where the case has been

fully tried and finally decided on its merits and nothing remains to be done except the entry of a decree, the decree would follow as if both parties were living." White v. Smith, 645 So.2d 875, 881 (Miss. 1994); quoting Thrash v. Thrash, 385 So.2d 961, 962 (Miss. 1980). Like White and Thrash, this case had been fully tried and finally decided on its merits by the jury. Nothing remained but the trial court entering final judgment.

This Court further concluded "that, in the absence of some special circumstances such as would cause a miscarriage of justice by so doing, the provisions of that section [§ 11-7-25] apply in a case such as this, the death of the husband having occurred long after the formal decision of all issues by the trier of facts. To hold otherwise, we think, would work a manifest miscarriage of justice." White, 645 So.2d at 881; quoting Thrash, 385 So.2d at 964. In this case, Robert Eastman died three months after all issues had been resolved by the trier of fact. Based on the above precedent, it would be a manifest miscarriage of justice to render the trier of fact's verdict a nullity because Robert Eastman subsequently died.

II. It Was Not Reversible Error to Refuse Defendant's "Sophisticated-User" Instruction.

"It is well settled that jury instructions generally are within the discretion of the trial court, so the standard of review for the denial of jury instructions is abuse of discretion." *Newell v. State*, 49 So.3d 66, 73 (Miss.2010). "Jury instructions must fairly announce the law of the case and not create an injustice against the defendant. This rule is summed up as follows: 'In other words, if all instructions taken as a whole fairly, but not necessarily perfectly, announce the applicable rules of law, no error results." *Davis v. State*, 18 So.3d 842, 847 (Miss.2009) (quoting *Milano v. State*, 790 So.2d 179, 184 (Miss.2001)). Further, any alleged error is only reversible if "the challenged instruction ... affected the outcome of the case." *Jowers v. Lincoln Elec. Co.*, 617 F.3d 346, 353 (5th Cir. 2010); quoting *Bender v. Brumley*, 1 F.3d 271, 277 (5th Cir. 1993).

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